RECEIVED

May 19 2026

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM ANDERSON COUNTY

Steven C. Kirven, Master-In-Equity

Lower Court Case Number 2023-CP-04-0846

James C. Sitton, II, individually and as Personal Representative of the Estate of John D. Sitton,
and Betty A. Sitton, Appellants,

v.

John D. Sitton, Jr., individually and as Former Trustee of the John D. Sitton Trust, and Brian K.
James, as Personal Representative of the Estate of Ruth R. Sitton, Defendants,

Of whom John D. Sitton, Jr. is the Respondent.

Appellate Case No. 2025-002061

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Adam Sinclair Ruffin
SC Bar No. 101350
1320 Main Street, Suite 300

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Whether the Master-In-Equity erred by finding that Appellants' claims were time-barred by the statute of limitations, laches, waiver, and estoppel?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from a final order of the Master-In-Equity dismissing Appellants' claims against Respondent with prejudice.

John D. Sitton (John Sr.) died testate on February 16, 1993, and his estate was probated in Pickens County. (R. pp. 280–281). John Sr. was survived by his wife, Ruth, his sons, John Sitton Jr. (John Jr.), James Sitton II, and his daughters, Betty, Dorothy, and Dale. The Co-Personal Representatives of John Sr.'s estate were Ruth and John Jr. His Last Will and Testament created a residual trust which also appointed Ruth and John Jr. as Co-Trustees. (R. p. 282).

Ruth died on May 25, 2013, and continuous litigation over her estate began in the Pickens County Probate Court. (R. p. 288). Important to this case, one aspect of the litigation in Probate Court was over the validity of a deed executed by John Sr. in 1987 where he attempted to convey his half-interest in their family home to “Dorothy Sitton Ashley, Trustee for Ruth R. Sitton, with authority to convey.” The issue regarding the validity of this deed was referred to the Pickens County Circuit Court which found that the deed was void because the attempted conveyance was to a “non-existing grantee.” (R. p. 290). Although John Sr.'s estate had been closed in 1994, the voiding of this deed resulted in the reopening of his estate on December 9, 2021. (R. pp. 281 & 290). James was appointed as successor Personal Representative of John Sr.'s reopened estate. (R. p. 290).

James and Betty Sitton (Plaintiffs/Appellants) filed a summons and complaint and lis pendens on April 17, 2023, in Anderson County. The lawsuit brought causes of action for an accounting and breach of fiduciary duty by John Jr. in his capacity as the former Co-Trustee of John Sr.'s Trust. (R. pp. 1, 6). John Jr. filed his answer and counterclaim on Jun 14, 2023, raising

defenses that the claims were time barred by the statute of limitations, laches, waiver, and estoppel. (R. p. 19).

The case proceeded to a bench trial before the Honorable Steven C. Kirven, Master-In-Equity, on January 29, 2025. (R. p. 33). Betty Sitton died prior to the hearing. James was represented by James C. Alexander. John Jr. was represented by James S. Eakes. (R. p. 34).

The Master concluded that the claims were time barred and dismissed Appellants' claims with prejudice. (R. p. 273).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“Trusts have long and broadly been a field for the jurisdiction of equity.” *Epworth Orphanage v. Long*, 199 S.C. 385, 389, 19 S.E.2d 481, 482 (1942). “On appeal from an action in equity, tried by a judge alone, this Court has jurisdiction to find facts in accordance with our view of the preponderance of the evidence.” *Floyd v. Floyd*, 365 S.C. 56, 93, 615 S.E.2d 465, 485 (Ct. App. 2005). However, an appellate court is “not required to disregard the findings of the trial judge who saw and heard the witnesses and was in a better position to judge their credibility.” *Ingram v. Kasey’s Assocs.*, 340 S.C. 98, 105, 531 S.E.2d 287, 291 (2000).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Testimony of John Jr.

John Jr, James, Betty, Dorothy, and Dale were siblings. Their parents were John Sr. and Ruth. (R. p. 57, ll. 18 – 25).

John Sr. died on February 16, 1993. (R. p. 72, ll. 1 – 4). His Will established a residual trust after making specific bequests. He appointed John Jr. and Ruth to serve as Co-Trustees of the Trust. (R. p. 58, l. 22 – p. 59, l. 3). The Trust named Betty as the primary beneficiary. (R. p. 60, ll. 10 – 18; R. p. 156). During his testimony, John Jr. initially denied that the Trust named James as a secondary beneficiary despite being confronted with the language of the Will. (R. p. 60, l. 19 – p. 61, l. 8). Upon further questioning, John Jr. agreed that the Will specifically directed the Trustees to “provide support for my son, James C. Sitton, II, if and when the need arises for food, shelter, clothing and medical expenses.” (R. p. 63, ll. 7 – 24; R. p. 156). Although John Jr. again equivocated, he admitted that the only specifically named beneficiaries under the Trust were Betty and James II, at least until Betty and Ruth both died. (R. p. 64, ll. 1 – 19).

John Jr. and Ruth deeded to themselves the real estate that was owned by John Sr. at his death. (R. p. 59, ll. 14 – 23; R. p. 174). Portions of this real estate, amounting to approximately 9.69-acre tracts each, were later distributed to each of the siblings. (R. p. 59, l. 24 – p. 60, l. 4). The real estate that remained after these equal distributions to the siblings remained under the control of John Jr. and Ruth. (R. p. 60, ll. 5 – 8).

John Jr. and Ruth sold four tracts of the real estate that was held in the Trust to other parties. (R. p. 64, ll. 21 – 25; R. pp. 176, 178, 180, 181). John Jr. admitted to receiving money from the sales of these tracts but said he gave the money to his mother Ruth. (R. p. 65, ll. 5 – 14). John Jr. admitted that he did not know whether the money was spent for the benefit of Betty or James as

was required under the Trust. (R. p. 65, ll. 15 – 22). John Jr. also admitted that he had no records to show how the money was spent. (R. p. 66, ll. 8 – 17).

John Jr. and Ruth, as Co-Trustees of the Trust, deeded another piece of the property held in Trust to John Jr. (R. p. 68, ll. 13 – 16; R. p. 183). When asked why he did this, John Jr. said that he didn't know he was doing anything wrong. (R. p. 68, ll. 17 – 20). John Jr. sold the property that he deeded to himself while serving as Trustee for a Trust established for the benefit of Betty and James. (R. p. 69, ll. 9 – 11). Part of it was sold for \$29,500 and the other part was sold for \$14,000. (R. p. 69, ll. 14 – 20; R. pp. 188, 197).

John Jr. admitted that none of the money that he received from the sales of the property that he deeded to himself while serving as Co-Trustee was used for the benefit of Betty or James. (R. p. 69, ll. 21 – 23). When asked why he didn't use the money for the benefit of the Trust beneficiaries, John Jr. testified that “[he] just didn't.” (R. p. 69, l. 24 – p. 70, l. 3). *John Jr. agreed that this was a breach of his fiduciary duty.* (R. p. 70, ll. 8 – 11). John Jr. further admitted that he did not have any of the money left that he received from the sales he made in breach of his fiduciary duty. (R. p. 70, ll. 12 – 14).

John Jr. was questioned by his Counsel about why property was deeded to him while he was serving as Trustee. John Jr. testified that he “asked [Ruth] to give that property to me.” (R. p. 84, ll. 1 – 6). John Jr. explained: “I'm the one that always took care of my daddy and my mother and Betty and I always would have to check on her.” (R. p. 84, ll. 7 – 10). John Jr. admitted that none of the other siblings received in-kind distributions like the deed he made to himself under (R. p. 183). John Jr. said that he “was the only one that asked [Ruth] to give [him] that property and didn't know [he] was doing wrong.” (R. p. 92, ll. 4 – 11). John Jr. claimed that James found out about this deed in September of 2012 and was furious about it. (R. p. 85, ll. 12 – 17).

Testimony of James

James testified that he did not know he was a beneficiary of the Trust until he was informed by his Counsel. Prior to that, he thought his sister Betty was the only beneficiary. (R. p. 97, l. 24 – p. 98, l. 17). After their father’s death, James gave his mother a file cabinet to keep up with her finances but recalled that he was “absolutely . . . forbidden” from helping her with her finances. James testified that John Jr. was in charge of the property and that his mother was in charge of her finances and that “she did not want to hear anything from [James] about it.” (R. p. 102, l. 11 – p. 103, l. 5). However, James did later become Ruth’s power of attorney in February of 2012. (R. p. 119, ll. 18 – 22).

During the probate court proceedings regarding Ruth’s estate, the circuit court was asked by the probate court to determine the validity of a deed by John Sr. of his half interest in the family home to his daughter Dorothy as “Trustee for Ruth R. Sitton.” (R. p. 201). The circuit court determined the deed was void which resulted in this half-interest reverting to John Sr.’s estate. James then petitioned to reopen John Sr.’s estate and for himself to be appointed as Personal Representative. (R. p. 107, l. 2 – p. 108, l. 4; R. p. 165). James was appointed PR of John Sr.’s reopened estate on December 9, 2021. (R. p. 133, ll. 7 – 12).

James testified that to his knowledge, the money that John Jr. and Ruth received for the sales of the four tracts of property documented in (R. pp. 176, 178, 180, 181) was used to purchase a tractor and a truck for John Jr. (R. p. 109, l. 14 – p. 110, l. 12). James also recalled that John Jr. was not working during that time period and the money was used by him to eat out and buy expensive clothes. (R. p. 110, ll. 14 – 19). James did not find out about the deed in (R. p. 183) in which John Jr. deeded property to himself for his own benefit until he was represented by his trial counsel. (R. p. 111, l. 18 – p. 112, l. 14).

Arguments of Counsel

At the close of the evidence, Counsel for James argued that the evidence established that John Jr. had breached his fiduciary duty by deeding property to himself while serving as Trustee for his own benefit. (R. p. 145, ll. 9 – 25). Counsel for John Jr. responded by arguing that James had not joined the Estate of Ruth Sitton even though Ruth was Co-Trustee and John Jr. did not and could not have deeded property to himself without her authorization. (R. p. 146, ll. 5 – 13). Additionally, Counsel for John Jr. argued that the length of time between the last deed transfer from the Trust which occurred in 2011, that the claims by James were time barred and should be dismissed. (R. p. 147, ll. 1 – 18).

The Master indicated that he was “very concerned” about the length of time that had passed between the deed transfers and the filing of the lawsuit. (R. p. 147, l. 20 – p. 148, l. 7). The Master gave the lawyers time to submit written arguments and legal authority to support their respective positions. (R. p. 151, l. 17 – p. 153, l. 2).

Counsel for James pointed out in his written memorandum that the Will imposed a duty on the Trustees to provide the beneficiaries with an accounting every year which the Trustees never did. (Pl.’s Mem. at 7). This yearly requirement was a continuing obligation on the part of the Trustees which affected the timeliness of the claims. Specifically, Counsel for James maintained that the statute of limitations would not have begun to run until December 9, 2021, which is when James was appointed as Personal Representative of the Estate, or September 27, 2022, which is when the Trust was terminated by court order and John Jr.’s obligations as Trustee ended. (Pl.’s Mem. at 8 – 9). Accordingly, Counsel argued that the cause of action for an accounting by John Jr. was brought within the three-year statute of limitations. (Pl.’s Mem. at 9 – 10).

Counsel for James also pointed out that while John Jr. deeded property to himself in September 2011, he did not sell that property until October 9, 2020, and March 31, 2021. (R. pp. 188, 197). And it was the sale of the property for his personal benefit that constituted the breach of his fiduciary duty. Accordingly, James' claim for breach of fiduciary duty by John Jr. was filed within the three-year statute of limitations. (R. p. 237). Counsel further argued that John Jr. could not invoke the equitable defenses of laches and estoppel because he had unclean hands due to his breach of fiduciary duty. (R. p. 238).

Counsel for John Jr. argued that James was simply too late to bring his lawsuit. Counsel maintained that the last action taken by the Trustees was in September 2011 and the Trust was dormant after that. (R. p. 262). Counsel argued that it was Ruth's decision to deed the property to John Jr. and that James found out about this deed in September of 2012. (R. p. 263). Counsel cited to section 62-7-1005 of the South Carolina Code which provides for either a one-year or three-year statute of limitations for actions against trustees and argued that because James allegedly knew of the breach of fiduciary duty as early as 2012, he was required to bring the lawsuit within three years of that date. (R. pp. 264 – 267).

In addition to arguing that James' claims were barred by the statute of limitations, Counsel for John Jr. also argued that his claims were barred by laches. Again, Counsel asserted that James had notice of the actions which formed the basis for John Jr.'s breach of fiduciary duty twelve years before bringing the lawsuit. Counsel argued that the delay prejudiced John Jr. because of the death of witnesses, including Co-Trustee Ruth, and the loss of records. (R. pp. 268 – 269). Counsel made identical arguments in support of his position that James' claims were barred by the doctrines of equitable estoppel and waiver. (R. p. 270).

Master-In-Equity Ruling

The Master agreed with John Jr. and found that James' claims for an accounting and breach of fiduciary duty were time barred by the statute of limitations. (R. pp. 295–296). Specifically, the Master found that James “had constructive notice of the deed from the Trustees to [John Jr.] when it was recorded on September 23, 2011,” and that James had actual notice of the deeds “when he found it at his Mother’s home in 2012.” (R. p. 296). The Master further found that the Trustees’ failure to provide the annual accounting required by the terms of the Will meant that James could have brought an action for an accounting at any time over the life of the Trust but failed to do so until 2023. (R. p. 296).

The Master found that James’ claims were barred by the doctrine of laches, equitable estoppel, and waiver, because he “neglected for an unreasonable and unexplained length of time to file his action resulting in a loss of records, witnesses, the death of a co-trustee, and loss of evidence.” (R. pp. 296–297). As to the accounting, the Master found that even if the claim was not time-barred, John Jr.’s testimony provided for as complete an accounting as possible given the extended passage of time. (R. p. 297). The Master dismissed James’ claims with prejudice. (R. p. 301).

ARGUMENT

The Master-In-Equity erred by finding that Appellants' claims were time-barred by the statute of limitations, laches, waiver, and estoppel.

A. The current lawsuit was filed within three years of the termination of the Trust and therefore within the statute of limitations outlined in section 62-7-1005(c) of the South Carolina Trust Code.

The South Carolina Trust Code “establishes either a one or three year statute of limitations, depending on the extent of disclosure, within which a beneficiary is required to initiate a lawsuit against the trustee for mismanagement of the trust accounts.” *Mayer v. M.S. Bailey & Son, Bankers*, 347 S.C. 353, 359-60, 555 S.E.2d 406, 409 (Ct. App. 2001). And of course, before the court can know when the statute of limitations ends, the court must first determine when it begins. “The statute of limitations begins to run at the time the cause of action accrues.” *King v. James*, 388 S.C. 16, 26, 694 S.E.2d 35, 40 (Ct. App. 2010). “A cause of action accrues at the moment when the plaintiff has a legal right to sue on it.” *Matthews v. City of Greenwood*, 305 S.C. 267, 269, 407 S.E.2d 668, 669 (Ct. App. 1991).

Section 62-7-1005(a) of the Trust Code provides that: “a beneficiary may not commence a proceeding against a trustee for breach of trust more than one year after the date the beneficiary or a representative of the beneficiary was sent a report that adequately disclosed the existence of a potential claim for breach of trust.” In this case, Appellants were *never provided a report*—even though the terms of the Trust required the Trustees to do so—which would have disclosed the existence of a potential claim. (R. p. 66, ll. 8–17; R. p. 160). Accordingly, this one-year limitation period is inapplicable to this case.

If, as in this case, the one-year limitation period under section 62-7-1005(a) does not apply, section 62-7-1005(c) provides for a three-year limitation “after the first to occur of: (1) the

removal, resignation, or death of the trustee; (2) the termination of the beneficiary's interest in the trust; or (3) the termination of the trust." Here, the first of these events to occur was the termination of the Trust which happened on September 27, 2022 when the Probate Court ordered the Trust be terminated. (R. p. 168). Accordingly, the statute of limitations as set forth in section 62-7-1005(c) began to run on September 27, 2022. Appellants filed the current lawsuit on April 17, 2023, well within the three-year period from when the Trust was terminated. (R. p. 6).

Instead of adhering to the language of section 62-7-1005(c), the Master applied the discovery rule as it is generally understood in the civil context. *See Dean v. Ruscon Corp.*, 321 S.C. 360, 363, 468 S.E.2d 645, 647 (1996) ("According to the discovery rule, the statute of limitations begins to run when a cause of action reasonably ought to have been discovered. The statute runs from the date the injured party either knows or should have known by the exercise of reasonable diligence that a cause of action arises from the wrongful conduct"). Specifically, the Master found that Appellants "had constructive notice of the deed from the Trustees to Defendant when it was recorded on September 23, 2011" and that Appellant "learned of th[e deed] when he found it at his Mother's home in 2012."

The Master's error is two-fold. First, discovery of the breach only serves to trigger the statute of limitations where the trustees have provided the beneficiaries with a report that adequately disclosed the breach. S.C. Code § 62-7-1005(a). But where no report is provided, discovery of the breach is not the triggering event for the statute of limitations. To the extent the discovery rule applies under section 62-7-1005(c), the relevant discovery would be the discovery of either "(1) removal, resignation, or death of the trustee; (2) the termination of the beneficiary's interest in the trust; or (3) the termination of the trust." The Master's application of the discovery

rule to the discovery of the breach as beginning the statute of limitations was inconsistent with section 62-7-1005(c).

Secondly, the Master's conclusion erroneously finds that John Jr.'s deeding of the property to himself constituted the breach, as opposed to when he sold that property for his own financial gain. As Counsel for Appellants pointed out in his written memorandum, while John Jr. deeded property to himself in September 2011, he did not sell that property until October 9, 2020, and March 31, 2021. (R. pp. 188, 197). And it was the sale of the property for his personal benefit that constituted the breach of his fiduciary duty. (R. p. 237).

Under section 62-7-1001(a) of the South Carolina Code, a breach of trust occurs when a trustee violates a duty that the trustee owes to a beneficiary. Accordingly, whether a breach of trust has occurred can only be discovered by reviewing the terms of the trust itself. *See Deborah Dereede Living Tr. v. Karp*, 427 S.C. 336, 342, 831 S.E.2d 435, 439 (Ct. App. 2019) ("The trust instrument has been likened to a map on which the settlor has set the course the trustee must faithfully follow, and from which the trustee departs at his peril"). The terms of the Trust in this case did not prohibit the Trustees from deeding property to themselves. Instead, the Trust simply provided that the proceeds from any sales of property be used for the benefit of Ruth, Betty, and James. The Will specifically provided:

I [John Sr.] . . . authorize and empower my Trustees . . . to sell at public or private sale any and all property, both real and personal, falling under this Trust, make good titles for same, *and use the proceeds of sale as hereinafter directed*. I direct my said Trustees to *provide support for my daughter, Betty Sitton*; and secondly to *provide support for my son, James Sitton II* if and when the need arises for food, shelter, clothing and medical expenses.

(R. p. 167) (emphasis added). Accordingly, even if the Master were correct that the discovery of the breach is the triggering event for the statute of limitations, the breach did not occur until

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