RECEIVED

May 18 2026

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM ANDERSON COUNTY

Steven C. Kirven, Master-In-Equity

Lower Court Case Number: 2023-CP-04-0846

James C. Sitton, II, individually and as Personal Representative of the Estate of John D. Sitton,
and Betty A. Sitton, Appellants,

v.

John D. Sitton, Jr., individually and as Former Trustee of the John D. Sitton Trust, and Brian K.
James, as Personal Representative of the Estate of Ruth R. Sitton, Defendants,

Of whom John D. Sitton, Jr. is the Respondent.

Appellate Case No.: 2025-002061

RESPONDENT'S FINAL BRIEF

Allen and Eakes
James S. Eakes
S.C. Bar No. 1820
Post Office Box 1405

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

ARGUMENT

THE MASTER-IN-EQUITY CORRECTLY RULED BY FINDING THAT THE APPELLANTS' CLAIMS WERE TIME-BARRED BY THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS, LACEHS AND WAIVER:

A.) Appellants' causes of action for an accounting and for breach of fiduciary duty are barred by the applicable statutes of limitations contained in S.C. Code Ann. §62-7-1005.

The current South Carolina Trust Code (“SCTC”) was enacted into law in 2013 with an effective date of January 1, 2014. S.C. Code Ann. §62-7-1005 (2021) established a statute of limitations especially applicable to a trustee’s liability to a beneficiary for “breach of trust”. It established a one-year limitation period and a three-year limitation period. This code section is similar in content to former South Carolina Probate Code §62-7-307 (1987).

S.C. Code Ann. §62-7-1005 (2001) provides as follows:

“(a) Unless previously barred by adjudication, consent, or limitation, a beneficiary may not commence a proceeding against a trustee for breach of trust more than one year after the date the beneficiary or a representative of the beneficiary was sent a report that adequately disclosed the existence of a potential claim for breach of trust.

(b) A report adequately discloses the existence of a potential claim for breach of trust if it provides sufficient information so that the beneficiary or representative knows of the potential claim or should have inquired into its existence.

(c) If subsection (a) does not apply, a judicial proceeding by a beneficiary or on behalf of a beneficiary against a trustee for breach of trust must be commenced within three years after the first to occur of:

- (1) the removal, resignation, or death of the trustee;
- (2) the termination of the beneficiary's interest in the trust; or
- (3) the termination of the trust.”

The only assets of the Trust consisted of real property owned by John, Sr. at his death. The real property was conveyed to John D. Sitton, Jr. and Ruth R. Sitton, as Trustees under the Last Will and Testament of John D. Sitton by deed of distribution from the Personal Representatives dated October 20, 1994.

There was no activity in the Trust until 1998-1999 when, pursuant to a family agreement between Ruth and her five children, each of the five children were deeded comparable tracts of land by the Co-Trustees, for no consideration. These five tracts of land were part of the real property described in the 1994 deed of distribution. Specifically, the Co-Trustees deeded Tracts #5 containing 9.685 acres to James C. Sitton, II by deed dated September 1, 1999, and recorded in Record Book 3588 at Page 89. (R. pp. 205-207).

Therefore, James was aware of the existence of the trust and acknowledged in his testimony this was trust property. (R. pp. 120-121). He sold his tract for valuable consideration.

The next activity in the trust occurred between November, 2004, and March 22, 2006, when Ruth and John, Jr, as Co-Trustees, sold four (4) separate tracts of the trust property to third-parties for a total consideration of \$48,800.00. (R. pp. 76-77). These deeds were a matter of public record, and James testified that: “In 2004 I found out they had sold some of the real estate and that’s when I started getting very suspicious.” (R.p.109, ll. 14-16). James, also, checked the public tax records and obviously knew about the sales between 2004 and 2006. He admitted he was aware of these sales. (R. p. 133, ll. 13-23).

There was no further action taken by the Co-Trustees until September 1, 2011, when John D. Sitton, Jr. and Ruth R. Sitton, as Co-Trustees, conveyed certain real estate to John D. Sitton, Jr., by deed dated September 1, 2011, and recorded on September 23, 2011. (R. pp. 183-187). James was aware of this deed as early as September, 2012. John, Jr. testified that James knew about this deed in 2012 when he found it in a safe and that “he was acting pretty ugly about it at the house” and “he went to my mother and fussed”. (R. p. 85, ll. 4-17). When asked about this, James testified “I do not recall that” (R. p. 112, ll. 9-11) and “no, I do not recall”. (R. p. 112, ll. 12-14). He did not deny finding the deed. The Master, who was able to observe the witnesses and their demeanor, found that “... the Plaintiff was evasive in many instances and not believable on other instances such as his claim that he did not recall finding the deed to the Defendant in 2012.” (R. p. 295). John, Jr. asserted James had a “deep rooted ill-will almost hatred” of him. (R. pp. 92-94). James acknowledged this in his testimony relating his animosity and ill will back to an incident when he was for years old and John, Jr. ran over his duck. (R. pp. 98-100). John, Jr. further testified regarding James: “He resents me, he wants to make sure I don’t get anything and that’s his main goal”. (R. p. 94, ll. 2-6).

§62-7-1005 (a) further provides that claims by a beneficiary are barred “... more than one year after the date the beneficiary or a representative of the beneficiary was sent a report that adequately disclosed the existence of a potential claim for breach of trust.”

§62-7-1005 (b) provides: “A report adequately discloses the existence of a potential claim for breach of trust if it provides sufficient information so that the beneficiary or representative knows of the potential claim or should have inquired into its existence”.

Ruth was Co-Trustee, and John, Jr. deferred to her regarding the trust real estate and handling the money from the sale of the real estate. This trust was created in 1994 and, due to the

family dynamics and the death of Ruth, it is unknown what information she provided to her children. However, it is evident that James had actual knowledge of the deeds conveying the trust property to the five children in 1998 and 1999 and actual knowledge of the sale of the trust property to four (4) third-party buyers in 2004-2006. The Master-In-Equity found that James knew about the deed conveying trust property to John, Jr. in 2012. These were the equivalent of a “report” adequately disclosing to James the existence of a potential claim for breach of trust and/or placed him on notice that he should inquire into the existence of a potential claim. Therefore, his claims are barred by the one (1) year statute.

S.C. Code Ann §62-7-104 (a) (2021) provides that:

“(a)... a person has knowledge of a fact if the person:

- (1) Has actual knowledge of it;
- (2) Has received a notice or notification of it; or
- (3) From all the facts and circumstances known to the person at the time in question, has reason to know it.”

James had knowledge of the conveyances of the real estate out of the trust and, also, that Ruth received the proceeds from the sale of the four pieces sold to third-parties.

The deed of September 11, 2011, was the final deed executed and issued by the Co-Trustees, and there is no evidence that there has been any activity in the Trust since that time. Appellants did not file their action until twelve years later.

Ruth R. Sitton died on May 25, 2013, and there has been almost constant litigation in her estate since her death with James being very involved with all of the litigation. In two formal proceedings in the Pickens County Probate Court, he sought unsuccessfully to be appointed as Personal Representative. Judge Kathy P. Zorn signed an order dated November 10, 2014, finding

it was in the best interest of all involved “to appoint a disinterested person as Personal Representative, preferably a member of the South Carolina Bar, due to animosity between the parties.” (R. p. 288). Then, Judge Kathy P. Zorn issued an order on March 14, 2016, which appointed Kenneth Roper of the Pickens County Bar as Personal Representative of Ruth’s estate “due to severe animosity between the parties”. (R. pp. 288-289). James filed the action in Ruth’s estate on December 18, 2017, over the disputed “trust deed” to the 303 North B Street property, and, in this action, he alleged he was the “Successor Trustee of Ruth R. Sitton”. (R. pp. 218-225). This protracted legal action was ended on April 3, 2020, by the order of Judge Gravely dated May 18, 2020 (R. pp. 226-227). It is inexplicable and ingenious for James to now claim that he did not know about the Trust in John, Sr.’s will and the actions of the Trustees thereafter. He was the primary actor in all of the protracted litigation.

ALL deeds for the Trust property were signed by Ruth and John, Jr as Co-Trustees. There was no provision in John Sr.’s will for a survivor Trustee to act alone. Dale Sitton Rogers was named as a successor Trustee in John’s will, but she never acted in this capacity. (R. p. 76; p. 79; pp. 87-88).

S.C. Code Ann. §62-7-1005 (c) provides that an action for breach against a trustee must be commenced within three years after the first to occur of: “(1) the removal, resignation, or death of the trustee; (2) the termination of the beneficiary's interest in the trust; or (3) the termination of the trust”.

There was clearly no activity in the Trust after the deed to John, Jr on September 11, 2011. The Trust was basically dormant after this deed with no activity. Even though the legal title to certain real estate was still in the Trust, there was no activity by the Trustees and no money in the Trust. Therefore, the depletion of the Trust was a triggering event requiring

Appellant to act within three years. A trust can only exist if it is funded. A trust is deemed terminated when it is depleted for the purpose of calculating the statute of limitations period. See Mayer v. M.S. Bailey & Son, 347 S.C. 353, 555 S.E.2d 406 (S.C. App. 2001).

The death of Ruth on May 25, 2013, was a second triggering event to occur and, therefore, the three year limitation period started to run on this date, if not before on September 11, 2011. As stated above John, Jr. could not act independently as sole trustee and never attempted to. Dale Sitton Rogers, the named successor trustee never acted in this capacity.

Even though James is now seeking an accounting and alleging breach of fiduciary duties against Ruth and John, Jr., he did not file a statutory creditor's claim in Ruth's estate within the eight month statutory debt period.

James is seeking an accounting for the proceeds received by the Co-Trustees from the sale of the four parcels of real estate sold to third-parties between 2004-2006. John, Jr never handled any of the money from the sales. He testified "I gave it to my mother and she put it in her bank account." (R. p. 65, ll. 11-12). He further testified that all money from the sales "... went into my mother's bank account." (R. p. 77, ll. 23-25). John, Jr testified he did not know specifically where his mother deposited the money or how she spent it (R. pp. 77-79), and he did not have access to his mother's account. (R. p.59, ll. 4-13). Ruth deposited the money into her own account, and she handled her own account, deciding how to spend the money. (R. p. 65). John, Jr deferred to his mother.

Ruth's disabled daughter, Betty, was living with her, and she was supporting her during this time. John, Sr. in Item VIII of his will specifically provided: "My Trustees and/ or a Alternate Trustee shall have unquestioned and unlimited authority to use their discretion in investing and reinvesting and using any part or the Corpus and/ or interest they may deem

necessary or advisable for the comfortable maintenance, support, health, and well being of Betty Ann Sitton and Ruth R. Sitton, and shall supplement with food, shelter, and clothing for James C. Sitton, II.” (R. p. 160). It is obvious that Betty and Ruth were the primary beneficiaries.

James testified that he knew about the proceeds from the sale of the trust property as early as 2004 and that he became “very suspicious”. (R. p. 109, ll. 4-18). James checked the public records for the sale of trust property in 2004-2006. He knew his mother was handling the money from the sale of the trust property and was concerned about how she was spending the money. (R. p. 109). James alleged his mother spent money on John, Jr., but he never offered any direct proof other than his suspicion. He had no direct knowledge.

James confirmed in his testimony that his mother handled her own money and made her own decisions. When asked if he helped his mother with her financial affairs after 1997, he testified: “I mean, absolutely not, I was forbidden to. She told me Johnny was over the house and she was over the finances and she did not want to hear anything from me about it.” (R. p. 103, ll. 2-5). However, he was aware of his mother’s finances. John, Jr. testified that “Jimmy was the bookkeeper”. (R. p. 66, l. 14).

James became power of attorney for his mother in 2012, and he then handled all of her finances until her death on May 25, 2013. (R. p. 119, ll. 18-22) He paid all of her bills and real estate taxes, which would have included the real estate taxes for the real estate remaining in the Trust that clearly denoted it as Trust property. (R. p. 111, ll. 7-9). James had access to all of Ruth’s financial records. (R. pp. 139-140). James testified that: “I had my mother’s bank account at the end when I became her power of attorney in 2012. The money wasn’t in there”. (R. p. 140, l. 25; p. 141, l. 1-6). He continued paying the Trust real property taxes after Ruth’s death.

This is the equivalent of a report disclosing the existence of a potential claim involving the one year limitation period in §62-7-1005 (a). James did not file his action for an accounting until April 27, 2023, seventeen years after the money received from the final deed in 2006 and ten years after his mother died.

The Master-In-Equity further found that: “Even if Plaintiff was not time barred by the time and other defenses, the testimony provided by the Defendant at trial provides as complete of an accounting as the Defendant is able to provide based upon the death of his mother and the loss of her records due to the passage of time caused by Plaintiff’s unreasonable delay. (R. p. 297).

B.) Claims of a trust beneficiary may also be barred by principles of estoppel and laches arising under the common law of trusts, and the Master-In-Equity correctly ruled that Appellants’ causes of action for an accounting and breach of fiduciary duty were barred by laches:

The common law of trusts and principles of equity supplement the **South Carolina Trust Code**. (“S.C.T.C.”) **S.C. Code Ann.** §62-7-106 (2021). An act done and any right acquired or accrued before the effective date of S.C.T.C are not affected by the act. Unless otherwise provided by the act, any right in a trust accrues in accordance with the law in effect on the date of the creation of the trust and a substantive right in the decedent’s estate accrues in accordance with the law in effect on the date of the decedent’s death. 2013 Act No. 100 of the South Carolina Legislature. **See** Comments to S.C. Code Ann. §62-7-106.

The Comments to S.C. Code Ann. §62-7-1005 state in part: “The one-year and three-year limitations periods under this section are not the only means for barring an action by a beneficiary. ...Claims may also be barred by principles such as estoppel and laches arising in equity under the common law of trusts. **See** §62-7-106.” Therefore, the one year and three year

limitations periods contained in §62-7-1005 are not exclusive and do not preclude the affirmative defense of laches.

The principle of “laches” is in effect an equitable statute of limitations. White v. Warby, 176 S.C. 36, 179 S.E. 671 (1935). Laches is an equitable doctrine, which “arises upon the failure to assert a known right. “**EX parte Stokes**, 256 S.C. 260, 182 S.E.2d 306 (1971).

Laches has been defined as:

“Neglect for an unreasonable and unexplained length of time, under circumstances affording opportunity for diligence, to do what in law should have been done. Whether a claim is barred by laches is to be determined in light of the facts of each case, taking into consideration whether the delay has worked injury, prejudice, or disadvantage to the other party; delay alone in assertion of a right does not constitute laches. “Hallums v. Hallums, 296 S.C. 195, 198-199, 371 S.E.2d 525, 527 (1988). Simply put, to prove laches, a party must establish (1) delay; (2) unreasonable delay; and (3) prejudice.

The 1961 Supreme Court Case of Byars v. Cherokee County, 237 S.C. 548, 559, 118 S.E.2d 324, 330 defined laches as follows: “Laches is the neglect for an unreasonable and unexplained length of time, under circumstances permitting diligence, to do in law what should have been done, **or neglecting or omitting to do what in law should have been done for an unreasonable and unexplained length of time and in circumstances which afforded opportunity for diligence.**” (Emphasis added).

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